FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/28/2023 4:13 PM CASE NO. 57043-2 II FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/28/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102430-4

THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network

v.

Office of Insurance Commissioner

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorneys for Appellant

Spencer D. Freeman Freeman Law Firm, Inc. 1107 ¹/₂ Tacoma Avenue South Tacoma, WA 98402

Dennis W. Polio Edward Wenger Holtzman Vogel 2300 N. Street Northwest, Suite 643A Washington, D. C. 20037

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network ("The Network"), the Appellant in *Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network v. Office of Insurance Commissioner*, Court of Appeals Div. II Case Number 57043-2 II, and the Petitioner *In the Matter of Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network v. State of Washington, Office of the Insurance Commissioner*, Lewis County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-00723-21.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision requested for review is Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network v. Office of Insurance Commissioner, Court of Appeals Div. II Case Number 57043-2 II, filed on August 29, 2023.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the Court of Appeals decision interpreting the statutory definition of insurance and holding that memberships sold by the Network constitute insurance under Washington law contradicts decisions of the Supreme Court or Courts of Appeals regarding statutory construction.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision interpreting a novel definition of insurance under Washington law involves a significant question of Due Process under the United States Constitution.

3. Whether the Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest when the memberships provide self-defense education, connection with appropriate experts, and potential for financial assistance if wrongfully charged with a crime.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History.

i. Proceedings Before The Office Of The Insurance Commissioner.

The Network operated without incident until April 2019, when it received a notice of investigation from the Commissioner's Office. The notice stated, among other things, that the Office "has opened an investigation based on the allegation that [the Network] is insuring business in Washington without being authorized by a certificate of authority issued by the commissioner." AR at 239. Two months later, the Office served the Network with a subpoena demanding, among other things, member identities and bank records. *Id.* at 206–07, 209-12. The Network complied.¹ Eight months later, the Office issued a Cease and Desist Order

¹ The subpoena remains a point of contention. Although not material to this appeal, the Network maintains that the Commissioner's Office had no authority to issue the subpoena outside of litigation.

prohibiting the Network from selling memberships in Washington. AR at 130–34 (Order No. 20-0257). A Demand for Hearing Presided Over by Administrative Law Judge followed. AR at 139–43.² Roughly two months after that hearing, the Office issued an Order Imposing a \$200,000 Fine.

Faced with a colossal financial penalty, the Network responded with a Motion to Stay the Order to Cease and Desist pending the administrative hearing process. *Id.* at 196–207. The Network argued that fundamental notions of due process required, at minimum, notice and an opportunity to be heard before the Office fined it into financial oblivion. The presiding officer denied the motion, reasoning that she lacked authority to rule on federal constitutional issues. *Id.* at 351–70.

In August 2020, the parties cross-moved for summary judgment. *Id.* at 374–98, 527–42. The presiding officer granted

² To ensure an impartial audience, the Network filed a request to transfer the proceedings to an administrative law judge at the Office of Administrative Hearings. The presiding officer at the Commissioner's Office denied the request.

the Office's motion and denied the Network's. She concluded that Network membership constituted a contract for insurance because, in her view, the Network "promised" to pay legal costs if a member acted in self-defense; that acting in self-defense constitutes a "determinable contingency"; and that a member engages in "risk shifting" or "risk distribution" of a member's risk upon buying a membership. *Id.* at 100–13.

On October 5, 2020, the Network moved for reconsideration. *Id.* at 728–32. In early November, the presiding officer granted the motion in part, but only to redefine self-defense as both an intentional act and a "hybrid contingent act." Although she reduced the fine to \$50,000, she refused to alter her conclusion that the Network sold insurance.

ii. Lewis County Superior Court Proceedings.

Having exhausted administrative remedies, the Network filed a Petition in Support of Judicial Review with the Lewis Country Superior Court on March 23, 2022. The Network argued that it was not providing insurance because (1) membership alone does not contractually obligate the Network to indemnify members, (2) risk never shifts from the members to the Network, (3) the Network retains absolute discretion over any decision to provide financial assistance to a member, and (4) acting in self-defense cannot be construed as a determinable contingency.

The Superior Court disagreed, and on May 25, 2022, it affirmed the order entered by the Commissioner's Office.³ Court's Memorandum Decision Affirming Commissioner's Final Order (hereinafter, "Memo Decision"), *In the Matter of Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network v. Office of the Insurance Comm'r*, at 3 (May 5, 2022) (No. 20-2-00723-21). Specifically, the Superior Court held that the Network sold

³ To lawfully sell insurance in the state of Washington, a business is required to obtain an insurance producer license and the business must: pay appropriate fees, have a designated licensed insurance producer responsible for compliance with Washington insurance laws, and show that it has not committed any act that could be seen as grounds for disapproval as laid out in the statute. RCW § 48.17.090(3).

insurance contracts to its members because it accepted fees in exchange for, among other things, the payment of legal and bail expenses if a member faces prosecutorial action arising from a lawful use of-force incident. *Id*.

iii. Court of Appeals Proceedings.

The Network appealed to the Court of Appeals Division II, arguing that its member benefits were not insurance because (1) No insurance contract is formed when the Network retains absolute discretion over decisions to provide financial assistance to members; (2) When the Network elects to provide monetary support, such support constitutes neither indemnification nor an agreement to pay a specific amount; (3) The use of force in lawful self-defense is not a determinable contingency; (4) If Network membership constitutes insurance in Washington, the statutory definition of insurance is so vague as to violate due process; and (5) A new law, Substitute S.B. 5810 (S.S.B. 5810), LAWS OF 2023, ch. 3, § 1, applies to the Network's membership benefits exempting them from the

7

definition of insurance. The Court of Appeals disagreed, and on August 29, 2023, affirmed the lower court decision.

This appeal follows.

B. Facts.

i. Formation of The Network.

In 2008, Marty Hayes, a nationally recognized selfdefense expert with decades of firearms-training experience, founded the Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network. *See* Administrative Record ("AR") at 399, ¶ 2; 401, ¶ 11. Mr. Hayes molded the Network around the following premise: if gun owners (1) understand the law of self-defense and (2) remain proficient in the skills necessary to lawfully use force should the need arise, then tragedy will be avoided while public safety increases. The Network has helped its over 19,000 members keep themselves and their loved ones safe through this education.

Education remains the Network's paramount objective, and its members are among the best trained and most responsible armed civilians in the Nation. On the day they join, each member receives a 235-page self-defense book along with ten educational lectures on DVD. *See, e.g.,* AR at 258, 299, 403. Members also gain access to additional video lectures, interviews, and scores of journal articles that the Network updates monthly. *Id*.

ii. The Network's Mission.

The Network's educational mission extends beyond the primary task of ensuring that its members understand how to lawfully halt a reasonably perceived threat of death or grave bodily injury. The rule of law demands that the justice system adjudicate use-of-force incidents as either lawful or unlawful, which the Network's members understand. Naturally, they want the justice system to apply the law of self-defense correctly and fairly to the facts of every use-of-force incident. To ensure that the justice system reaches fair outcomes, judges and juries many of whom lack experience with use-of-force incidentsmust develop an understanding of reasonable threat perception and the level of force required to negate serious threats.

The Network offers two solutions. The first is by acting as a conduit between its members and the professional selfdefense legal community. By facilitating communication between the Network's legal cadre and members who need their services, the Network's members benefit from state-of-the-art developments in the law and science of use-of-force encounters, while gaining access to those best positioned to explain this law and science to judges and juries.

The second solution is the one implicated here. Entanglement with the criminal justice system is never costfree, and using force in self-defense virtually guarantees the scrutiny of prosecutors. Accordingly, if a member uses force to protect herself from a reasonably perceived threat of grave injury or death, the Network *may*—not shall—provide some financial assistance to help with, among other things, bail, attorneys' fees, and expert witnesses.

10

Every person who contemplates joining the Network is immediately presented with the following disclaimer: "[W]e are NOT insurance! There is no insurance component in our member benefits." AR at 407, ¶¶ 45–46; 443–47. The Network announces this information upfront to make crystal-clear to all prospective members that, unlike car insurance coverage for accidents, Network membership comes with no contractual right to financial assistance in the wake of a use-of-force incident.

Network membership results in neither a "membership agreement" nor a document signed by both member and Network. Before becoming a member, prospective members can review a Membership Application Brochure ("Brochure"). AR at 219, 530. To become a member, a prospective member must answer questions about their criminal history and pay a fee. *Id.* Once enrolled, members receive an Explanation of Membership Benefits ("Explanation"). *Id.* Neither the language of the Brochure nor the Explanation forms a contract. Instead, the language highlights the discretionary nature of the assistance the Network may provide to its members. For example, the Brochure discusses what to expect before, during, and after a member engages in selfdefense, describing the Network's benefits using discretionary language.⁴ AR at 262. The Explanation, which is received *after* the initial membership fee is paid, similarly describes Network benefits using discretionary language:

> The member is *eligible* for Network benefits from the time their dues payment is received to the end of their membership term . . .

^{• • • •}

⁴ For example, a previous version of the Brochure read: "Immediate funding: When a member uses force in self-defense, the Network immediately sends up to \$25,000 to the member's attorney and can provide up to \$25,000 in bail assistance." AR at 262. The brochure was changed to remove the "up to \$25,000" language. This was done because the Network did not wish to make it appear that it limited potential financial assistance to a specific dollar figure. The "up to" language not only shows a discretionary—rather than contractual—process but also that the Network was able to alter the language of its Brochure on its own accord, unlike a contract.

The Network never assigns an attorney to a member, nor interferes with the member's attorney choice.

. . . .

If a Network member who has been involved in a self-defense incident requests the Network's assistance, the Network will work with the member to identify a local attorney to provide representation. *The member retains final responsibility in the selection of the attorney representing him or her.*

• • • •

Network assistance with legal fees is not limited to Network Affiliated Attorneys, so if your preferred attorney is not affiliated with the Network, that does not affect your eligibility to receive assistance with fees.

• • • •

... your representative *should* call us at the Network office ... to *request* this assistance.

• • • •

... *please* do not call [the emergency Network number] for any reason other than a *request* for legal assistance after a self-defense incident.

If criminal charges or other litigation results from the self-defense incident, the member and his or her attorney *can request* a grant of further financial assistance from the Network to defray the cost of going to trial.

AR at 264–65 (emphases added). The Network's webpage contains similar discretionary language.⁵ *See, e.g.*, AR at 226. "Can," "eligible," "up to," "should," "request," and similar language all exude discretion. For example, the phrase "up to" implies that the Network can decide to pay some or none of a member's legal expenses. The word "can" implies the discretion to take no action in response to a member's request. The word "should" does not imply a binding agreement, and "request" implies an ability to deny the request.

⁵ A previous version of the Network's FAQ webpage, which was altered prior to the instant legal action stated: "What does my membership fee buy me? An initial fee deposit of up to \$25,000 paid to the member's attorney by the Network if the member has been involved in a self-defense incident. . . . The Network will pay a bail bond agent up to \$25,000 to post bail on behalf of a member who has used force in self defense." Similar to the Brochure, this language was altered to remove the appearance that the Network capped its potential assistance. The "up to" language not only evokes a discretionary—rather than contractual— process; further, that the Network was able to revise the language of its own webpage also evidences that discretionary interpretation.

By laying out the procedure by which a member *might* receive defrayed legal expenses, the Network has demonstrated that any such decision remains solely in its discretion. If a member encounters legal action after she uses self-defense, she may contact the Network to ask for assistance. Requests are reviewed by at least one member of the Network's Advisory Board. The facts of the case and controlling law are then evaluated to determine whether the scenario meets the applicable standard: that the member reasonably perceived she was in imminent danger of bodily injury or death from a person who had the ability, opportunity, and intent to carry out the threat, and whether the member used appropriate force to end the threat.

If the Advisory Board determines that the member did not act justifiably in self-defense, that member receives no financial support, with no appeal. Throughout the Network's lifespan, no member has ever sued, or threatened to sue, to

15

force the Network to provide financial assistance despite the Network declining at least eight requests for assistance.

If, however, the Advisory Board concludes that the member acted lawfully, the Network *may*—in its sole discretion-provide some indeterminate amount of financial support for legal expenses.⁶ Unlike car insurance, which contractually obligates the insurer to cover, within policy limits, the total cost of damage suffered in a collision, the Advisory Board's conclusion that (1) a member justifiably acted in selfdefense and (2) the Network will provide some financial support, does not obligate the Network to fund all attorneys' fees or cover the full cost of an expert witness. The Network has never hinted that it will pay a criminal fine, an order of restitution, or a damages verdict imposed against one of its members, even one who has acted in justifiable self-defense.

⁶ See, e.g., AR at 650, ¶ 5 (R. Hamilton Decl.) ("When I became a member, I was fully aware that [the Network] retain [sic] full discretion to provide a member access to and receive financial assistance from [the] Fund."); accord AR at 684–705 (14 others).

The Network never promises assistance or that, should it assist, it will make a member financially whole. The Network does not indemnify its members in any sense of the word.

Further, the Network explains to its members how its financial-assistance regime works—*i.e.*, that the decision to extend financial assistance is always solely within the Network's discretion. As demonstrated in testimony, the Network's members understand how the Network's discretionary financial-assistance program differs from insurance plans. *See, e.g.*, AR at 650, ¶ 5 (R. Hamilton Decl.) ("When I became a member, I was fully aware that [the Network] retain full discretion to provide a member access to and receive financial assistance from [the] Fund."); *accord* AR at 684–705 (14 others). The Network has repeatedly discussed the differences between its policy and insurance plans in messages to its members and the public,⁷ with its president publicly stating that "we are not interested in combining our established and workable program to protect our members from criminal prosecution with any insurance product. . . . [and] I don't want anything to do with [insurance]."⁸ Over a dozen

⁷ See, e.g., President's Message, Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network, https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/june-Inc., 2015presidents-message (June 2015); https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/our-journal/archivedjournals/286-may-2013#President (May 2013); Editor's Notebook, Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network, Inc., https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/february-2018editorial (Feb. 2018); https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/september-2018editorial; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/march-2019editorial; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/july-2018presidentsmessage; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/december-2018presidents-message; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/february2019-presidentshttps://armedcitizensnetwork.org/august-2019message; presidentsmessage; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/2018state-of-thenetwork: https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/july-2017-bookreview; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/october-2017presidents-message; https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/1million-legal-defense-fund. ⁸ President's Message, Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network, https://armedcitizensnetwork.org/february-Inc.. 2018editorialhttps://armedcitizensnetwork.org/ourjournal/archivedjournals/286-may-2013#President (Feb. 2018).

members submitted declarations in the proceedings below stating that they remain "fully aware" that the Network "retain[s] full discretion to provide a member access to and receive financial assistance," and that "[a]t no time did" they "think or believe that [the Network] was providing me . . . insurance or contractual obligation to have access to" financial assistance. AR at 95, ¶ 29.

The financial resources comprising the Fund come from various sources—not merely membership dues. *Id*. 404–05, ¶ 29. Many Fund donations come from corporate entities or individuals who make direct financial contributions or donate products and services for auction, with the proceeds contributed to the Fund. *Id*. Other Fund donations come from bequests. *Id*. Since the Commissioner's Office initiated this action, 220 individuals have donated over \$21,000 to the Network. Only 25% of Network membership dues are paid into the Fund, an amount that can unilaterally change at any time at the discretion of Network leadership. *Id*. Along with membership dues, the

Network provides additional donations to the Fund. *Id.*; AR at 404-05, ¶ 29.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) allows for discretionary review to be granted

in four instances:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP

13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4) because (a) the decision of the Court of

Appeals interpreting the statutory definition of insurance contradicts longstanding rulings of the Supreme Court regarding statutory construction and interpretation; (b) there is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States; and (c) there is an issue of substantial public interest which should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A. The Court of Appeals' Statutory Interpretation Contradicts Decisions by the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals.

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