FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/28/2023 3:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102430-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Armed Citizens Legal Defense Network,

Appellant,

v.

Office of the Insurance Commissioner,

Respondent.

INSURANCE COMMISSIONER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Marta DeLeon Assistant Attorney General WSBA #35779 1125 Washington St SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-9006

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

The Insurance Code prohibits an unauthorized insurer from soliciting insurance business or transacting insurance business in Washington. RCW 48.05.030(1); RCW 48.15.020(1) ("An insurer that is not authorized by the commissioner may not

solicit insurance business in this state or transact insurance business in this state...."). To protect consumers from harm by companies that are not properly authorized to transact insurance, the Legislature provided the Insurance Commissioner with cease and desist authority (RCW 48.02.080(3)(a) and RCW 48.15.023(5)(a)(i)), and broad fining authority of up to \$25,000 per violation (RCW 48.15.023(5)(a)(ii)). The Insurance Code, in combination with the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), Ch. 34.05 RCW, provides a mechanism for those who have been issued a cease and desist order to receive an administrative hearing, presided over by the Insurance Commissioner, or a Presiding Officer appointed by the Commissioner. RCW 48.04.010(1); RCW 34.05.425(1)(a-b).

C. Illicit Self-Defense Insurance

It is common with regulatory agencies for the investigation of one bad actor in a niche market to prompt review of other entities that fit in that same niche. In February of 2019, following an investigation of the National Rifle Association and

its self-defense insurance program, CarryGuard, the Office of the Insurance Commissioner (OIC) began to investigate other entities offering products similar to self-defense insurance, or some form of contract promising to help individuals pay for legal assistance after the use of deadly force. Administrative Record¹ (AR) 618, 623. As a result of these investigations, on September 17, 2019, the OIC entered into a consent order with the United States Concealed Carry Association (USCCA). AR 623-30. USCCA is a membership organization that provided education, a magazine subscription, weekly online training videos, access to educational videos and other online resources, attendance at a seminar, various discounts on other products, and USCCA-branded gear and accessories to its members. AR 623. In addition, as part of its membership fees, USCCA offered an insurance product called the Self-Defense SHIELD Protection

¹ The certified Administrative Record was delivered under separate cover than the Clerks Papers to the Court of Appeals, and is the agency record reviewed by the Superior Court.

Plan, without a certificate of authority from the Insurance Commissioner to do so. AR 624. USCCA ultimately consented to a \$100,000 fine, plus back premium taxes. AR 629.

Similarly, on November 12, 2019, the OIC issued a cease and desist order against Firearms Legal Protection, LLC (Firearms Legal) for soliciting insurance without a certificate of authority from the Insurance Commissioner to offer insurance. AR 613-17. In exchange for monthly "membership fees," Firearms Legal agreed to pay for legal representation for members facing civil or criminal charges related to a "Use Of Weapon Incident." AR 614. On December 12, 2019, Firearms Legal entered into a consent order with the OIC paying a fine of \$25,000 for offering an insurance product without a certificate of authority to do so. AR 620-21.

This series of investigations did not result in the OIC rejecting every attempt to offer a product that provides the same or similar protections as the membership offered by Armed Citizens, however. As part of its investigation in this niche, the

OIC entered into a consent order with Lydon Southern Insurance Company (Lydon Southern), an authorized insurance company. Lydon Southern agreed to pay a fine of \$10,000 for offering an insurance product that potentially covered illegal acts, and to submit language modifying their insurance contract to make clear that they would provide coverage under a reservation of rights, and would seek reimbursement in the event the insured is found to not have a valid self-defense claim. AR 468. On May 21, 2020, the Insurance Commissioner approved the new language submitted by Lydon Southern. AR 476-512. The investigation of these various entities in this niche market led to the OIC's investigation of Armed Citizens.

D. The Armed Citizens' Membership Program

As part of its investigation, the OIC reviewed Armed Citizens' website in order to determine if Armed Citizens offers "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay a specified amount upon determinable contingencies." AR 545; see RCW 48.01.040.

Armed Citizens, which sometimes refers to itself as "the Network" is a privately owned, for-profit corporation. AR 318. Its current configuration was established on June 6, 2011, with a principal office located in Onalaska, Washington. AR 549. However, Armed Citizens has been doing business in Washington since 2008. AR 317, 545. Armed Citizens does not possess a certificate of authority allowing it to act as an insurer in Washington. AR 545.

According to screen shots of the Armed Citizens' website viewed during the investigation, "[t]he Network is an organization of gun owners pooling their strength to protect one another when a member comes under scrutiny of the legal system after acting in self-defense." AR 316. On its website, Armed Citizens promotes "two core missions":

First, to help members in the legal fight after they justifiably use force in self-defense by paying for the services of attorneys, expert witnesses, private investigators and other professionals essential to mounting a vigorous legal defense of self-defense on behalf of our members. Our second mission is educating our members (and to some extent, the

gun-owning public) in the law governing use of force in self-defense and how armed citizens can protect against unmeritorious prosecution.

AR 317.

In a membership application brochure, Armed Citizens makes offers of insurance to consumers nationwide in exchange for membership fees. For example, the brochure containing the membership application advertises the following membership benefits "during" a self-defense event:

Immediate funding: When a member uses force in self-defense, the Network immediately sends up to \$25,000 to the member's attorney and can provide up to \$25,000 in bail assistance. This assistance is extended after any legal self-defense incident whether you use a firearm or other defense option.

Funding we pay to your attorney assures critical precautions are taken including having an attorney present during any questioning, interfacing for you with law enforcement, keeping the news media at bay, and other assistance during those critical times immediately following self-defense.

AR 577.

In addition, Armed Citizens' application brochure outlines additional membership benefits "after" a self-defense event:

The Network advantage is particularly apparent when we fund a trial team when the money's needed upfront to prepare and defend at trial.

Our membership benefits give the Network a free hand to tailor post-incident legal assistance... This assistance pays attorney fees and if needed, the expertise of an additional attorney or attorneys to contribute much needed experience to the trial team, as well as pay for expert witnesses, private investigators and other expenses to defend the member's self-defense actions....

... Network member benefits include legal funding to defend against civil law suit, as well. Additional

assistance can be extended if a retrial or appeal is needed, too.

Id.

Similarly, in its online advertising, Armed Citizens represents the benefits of its program as follows:

Members who have been involved in a self-defense incident during their term of membership receive the following:

- A fee deposit paid to the member's attorney after the member has been involved in a self-defense incident. This is a membership benefit; the member is not asked to repay it. The fee deposit gets the legal defense immediately underway. . .
- The Network will work with the member to arrange for bail, after the member has used force in legitimate self-defense.
- Network members also have access to additional funding from the Network's Legal Defense Fund for legal expenses of defending against unmeritorious prosecution or civil law suit . . .

AR 321-22.

In describing the role of the defense fund on its website,

Armed Citizens states:

The purpose of the Network's Legal Defense Fund is to provide legal defense support to Network members after a self-defense incident. This support is supplied at several points along the timeline.

First, the Network will work with your chosen attorney to make sure you have immediate legal representation by forwarding an agreed upon fee deposit to the member's attorney. . . .

In addition, if the member is charged with a crime or sued in civil court, the Network provides additional funding for a vigorous defense of the member's justifiable self-defense actions. Additional defense funding is available for appeals where there are appealable issues, and retrials, as well.

AR 336. Members must pay a membership fee that varies based on the length of the membership. AR 576.

After members enroll, they receive an Explanation of Membership Benefits from Armed Citizens and a membership card. AR 579-584. Nowhere in its printed or online advertising does Armed Citizens inform potential members that the decision to pay legal fees is subject to the sole discretion and whim of the president or officers of Armed Citizens. Rather, the advertising materials and the materials provided after Armed Citizens accepts the payment of membership dues indicate that the only requirement to access the member benefit of financial assistance with legal expenses is "a determination it was a legitimate act of self-defense." AR 336. Nothing in the materials indicates that Armed Citizens retains any right or discretion to refuse financial assistance with legal expenses as long as the event in question constitutes a "legitimate act of self-defense."

Armed Citizens allocates 25 percent of collected membership fees to its Legal Defense Fund. AR 593. In addition, the Legal Defense Fund receives corporate and personal donations. AR 589-90. The Fund has grown to over two million dollars. AR 603. Armed Citizens has over 17,000 members nationwide. *Id.* Since 2008, 2,559 Washington consumers have purchased memberships from Armed Citizens. AR 545.

As part of OIC's investigation, Armed Citizens provided a list of 25 members across the United States who sought coverage for incidents. AR 608-611. Armed Citizens made payments related to 22 memberships. *Id.* Of the 25 claims, two incidents occurred in Washington. AR 610. For the first incident, Armed Citizens paid a member \$2,000. *Id.* The member was a victim of road rage and displayed a firearm to stop the incident; no criminal charges were brought. *Id.* For the second incident, a member fired shots from the member's yard to scare a neighbor's dog. *Id.* Armed Citizens did not pay

anything in regard to this member's claim, as Armed Citizens found the member's incident was not one of self-defense. *Id.*Armed Citizens has paid claims related to incidents in Washington and other states ranging from \$400 to \$75,000 per incident. AR 608-611.

Armed Citizens has affirmatively claimed in advertising material that its membership benefits do not constitute insurance. Its brochure, for example, states: "Armed Citizens' Legal Defense Network membership benefits are not insurance reimbursements. That's a good thing!" AR 577, 596, 604. Armed Citizens also submitted form declarations to the OIC from 13 members stating, "At no time did I think or believe that [Armed Citizens] was providing me, as a member, insurance or contractual obligation to have access to the Armed Citizens fund." AR 649-651; 684-709.

Based in part on the evidence summarized above, the OIC determined that Armed Citizens was acting as an unauthorized insurer. AR 133. Accordingly, on March 26, 2020, the OIC

issued a cease and desist order, detailing Armed Citizens' conduct that violated RCW 48.05.030 and RCW 48.15.020. AR 130-134. The same day, the OIC issued a proposed Consent Order Levying a Fine offering to settle the fine amount with Armed Citizens. AR 147. On March 31, 2020, Armed Citizens filed a hearing demand to contest the cease and desist order. AR 137-143.

On May 26, 2020, Armed Citizens filed a motion seeking a discretionary stay of the cease and desist order. The Insurance Commissioner's delegated Presiding Officer denied the motion. AR 196-204, 114-122. On May 29, 2020, an OIC Staff member issued the Order Imposing a Fine and requested a hearing on the fine of \$200,000, as permitted by RCW 48.15.023, in order to ensure that all of the regulatory action against Armed Citizens was consolidated. AR 147-154. The parties subsequently filed cross-motions for summary judgment. *See* AR 373-398; AR 528-543.

On November 5, 2020, the Presiding Officer entered the Second Amended Final Order on Summary Judgment (Final Order) holding that: 1) Armed Citizens had engaged in the unauthorized transaction of insurance; 2) the Commissioner had properly issued a cease and desist order against Armed Citizens; and 3) Armed Citizens must pay a fine of \$50,000 within 30 days of the order. AR 65-81. This appeal followed.

On May 26, 2022, the Superior Court affirmed the Final Order. Armed Citizens timely appealed. On August 29, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Final Order. Armed Citizens timely filed a Petition for Review (Petition) seeking this Court's discretionary review.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

Mere disagreement with a decision is not sufficient grounds to invoke this court's discretionary review. Instead, RAP 13.4 provides that discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if one or more of the following factors exist:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

As the entity seeking review, Armed Citizens has the burden of demonstrating these factors apply. Armed Citizens has failed its burden to establish that any of these four grounds for review exist.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with the Decisions of the Courts of Appeals and the Washington State Supreme Court

Armed Citizens' disagreement with a legal conclusion does not mean that the decision conflicts with another decision of law. Armed Citizens does not explicitly explain how the Court of Appeals decision (or the Insurance Commissioner's Final Order) conflicts with any of the cases cited by Armed Citizens.

Further, nothing in the decisions cited by Armed Citizens actually conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case.

First, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Murray v. Department of Labor & Industries, 151 Wash. 95, 275 P. 66, 69 (1929). *See* Petition at 22. Armed Citizens cites this case for the principle that courts must give effect to each word in a statute. But the Court of Appeals decision gives meaning to each word in the definition of "insurance" found in RCW 48.01.040. The Court of Appeals looked at each word in the statute and gave the term "specified" and the term "amount" a definition Armed Citizens disagrees with. Armed Citizens argues that "specified amount" can only be "an exact figure." Petition at 23. Armed Citizens claims the Court of Appeals cites nothing for their conclusion that the term "specified amount" can be a category of expenses rather than a dollar amount. Petition at 24. But the Court of Appeals explicitly considered the definitions in Websters' Third International Dictionary to determine the meaning of the phrase "specified amount."

Armed Citizens' Legal Def. Network v. Washington State Ins. Comm'r, __Wn.App.__, 534 P.3d 439, 447 (2023), attached to the Petition for Review as Appendix A, Court of Appeals Decision at 13. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with Murray at all. The decision gives meaning to all the words in the statute. Armed Citizens simply disagrees with the meaning that was given. Such a disagreement regarding an interpretation of statutory language is not sufficient to create a conflict with a prior decision.

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